DO NOT REMOVE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

FILE COPY

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent



ORIGINAL

v.

Supreme Court No.: 21-0943 Case Nos.: 21-F-130, 21-F-156 & 20-B-244 Fayette County, West Virginia

TIMOTHY MAICHLE,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

GARY A. COLLIAS West Virginia State Bar #784 Appellate Counsel Appellate Advocacy Division Public Defender Services One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304)558-3905 gary.a.collias@wv.gov

Counsel for Petitioner

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The circuit court erred in failing to grant the Petitioner's pretrial motion to dismiss the malicious assault count of the indictment for the reason that it did not allege "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill," since said intent is an essential element of the offense.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner Timothy R. Maichle was tried by jury and convicted in Fayette County circuit court of the offenses of "attempted murder in the second degree" in violation of W.Va. Code §§ 61-11-8 and 61-2-1, "malicious assault" in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-2-9, and "third offense domestic battery" in violation of W.Va. Code § 61-2-28(d). A.R. 557-58, 654-59, 675-77. Petitioner was sentenced to one to three years for the attempted second degree murder, four to ten years for malicious assault, and one to five years for the domestic battery. A.R. 604-05, 675-77, 678-83. The sentence for malicious assault was increased from the normal two to ten years to four to ten years as the result of a recidivist proceeding on that count of conviction pursuant to W.Va. Code §§ 61-11-18 and 19. A.R. 604-05, 662-64, 680-81. All sentences were imposed consecutively by the circuit court resulting in an effective sentence of six to eighteen years. A.R. 604-05, 675-77, 680-81.

The Petitioner was indicted on May 11, 2021. A.R. 609-10. On June 8, 2021, the Petitioner filed a "Motion To Dismiss Count 2" of the indictment, that being the malicious assault count. A.R. 612. Petitioner argued, among other things, that the indictment was deficient as to Count Two "because the element of 'intent to maim, disfigure, disable, or kill' is not present in Count 2" and that the "statutory requirements of malicious assault are not met by the language contained in Count 2 of the indictment." A.R. 612. Count Two of the indictment read as follows:

And the Grand Jurors, upon their oaths aforesaid, do further present that TIMOTHY R. MAICHLE, or about the 9TH day of September, 2020, in the said County of Fayette, committed the offense of "malicious assault" in that he did

unlawfully, intentionally, feloniously, and maliciously wound Amanda Maichle, by pushing her from a moving motor vehicle, against the peace and dignity of the State.

A.R. 609. The malicious assault and unlawful assault statute reads as follows:

If any person maliciously shoots, stabs, cuts or wounds any person, or by any means cause him or her bodily injury with intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill, he or she, except where it is otherwise provided, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by confinement in a state correctional facility not less than two nor more than ten years. If the act is done unlawfully, but not maliciously, with the intent aforesaid, the offender is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall either be imprisoned in a state correctional facility not less than one nor more than five years, or be confined in jail not exceeding twelve months and fined not exceeding \$500.

W.Va. Code § 61-2-9(a). Absent from Count Two of the indictment was the language "with intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill."

The State filed a response to the motion to dismiss Count Two. A.R. 614. The State argued that malicious assault could be committed one of two ways. "First, if a defendant maliciously shoots, stabs, or wounds any person." A.R. 616. Second, it can be violated "if a defendant maliciously and by any means causes another person bodily injury with the intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill." A.R. 616. It was the position of the State that as long as the indictment alleged that the Petitioner maliciously wounded Amanda Maichle it was not necessary that the indictment allege intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill.

A hearing on pretrial motions was held on June 29, 2021. A.R 62. The motion to dismiss Count Two of the indictment was argued by the parties. A.R. 80-84. The State argued that Count Two was sufficient because the element of "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill" was not necessary as long as the indictment alleged that the accused maliciously wounded the victim. A.R. 81-83. The circuit court erroneously agreed with the State and denied the motion to dismiss Count Two. A.R. 84. An order denying the motion and agreeing with the reasoning of the State was entered on July 14, 2021. A.R. 620. The court again denied the motion to dismiss Count Two in a post-trial order. A.R. 655.

Petitioner's jury trial commenced on August 18, 2021. A.R. 97. While the court was taking up preliminary trial matters the Petitioner moved the court to reconsider its earlier ruling not dismissing Count Two because of the missing "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill" language. A.R. 112. The State made the same argument that "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill" or kill" was not a proper element of malicious assault as alleged in Count Two of the indictment. A.R. 113. The court once again agreed with the State. A.R. 114.

The evidence at trial is not essential to the legal issues presented in this appeal, but briefly was as follows. The Petitioner and his wife Amanda Maichle were riding on Route 60 in Fayette County on September 9, 2020. A.R. 372-77. The Petitioner was driving, and his wife was in the front passenger seat. A.R. 375. They were arguing. A.R. 377-81. Mrs. Maichle asked the Petitioner to stop the vehicle and let her out. A.R. 380. He slowed down the vehicle. A.R. 381. She unbuckled her seat belt, turned her body toward the car door. A.R. 381. Mrs. Maichle testified the Petitioner then pushed her out the door. A.R. 381-82. The Petitioner maintained that she jumped from the vehicle in an audio statement that was played for the jury and came into evidence. A.R. 686-87 (Defendant's Exhibit 15 digital audio file on disk at A.R. 711.). Mrs. Maichle was severely injured by falling from the vehicle and by having her legs run over by the right rear wheel of their vehicle. A.R. 383-85. A paramedic testified that he believed she may have said she jumped from the vehicle. A.R. 419-20. At Charleston Area Medical Center Mrs. Maichle stated that she jumped from the vehicle. A.R. 231, 236-38, 255, 258, 715, 725, 727, 738. On September 28, 2020, she gave a statement to police indicating that

the Petitioner pushed her out of the vehicle but that she was not sure if he did it intentionally. A.R. 385-86.

Over the objection of the Petitioner, and after rejecting the proposed instruction of the Petitioner, the circuit court gave the State's jury instruction that did not include the element of intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill for either malicious assault or unlawful assault. A.R. 488-95, 514-16, 643-646.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the malicious assault count and the third offense domestic battery charge, but only convicted the Petitioner of the lesser included offense of attempted second degree murder. A.R. 557-58, 654-56, 675-77. The State filed a second offense recidivism information pursuant to W.Va. Code §§ 61-11-18 and 19 seeking to double the minimum sentence for the most serious of the Petitioner's convictions., that is, the malicious assault count. A.R. 662. The Petitioner filed a motion for a new trial. A.R. 666. That motion sought a new trial, for among other reasons, because the language "with intent to maim, disfigure, or kill" was missing from Count Two of the indictment. A.R. 666-67. The State filed a response to the motion for new trial. A.R. 668. The State advanced the same argument as before noting that the court twice before heard the Petitioner's argument regarding Count Two and rejected it on both occasions. A.R. 669.

The Petitioner was arraigned on the recidivist information. A.R. 567. He admitted that he was the same person convicted of the predicate felony offense. A.R. 576. A sentencing hearing took place on October 4, 2021. A.R. 580. During this hearing the Petitioner once again argued the motion to dismiss Count Two because of the missing language concerning "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill." A.R. 587-88. The State again argued that that language was not an element of malicious assault as charged and the court once again agreed and denied the

motion for new trial. A.R. 588-90. Based upon the recidivist information the court doubled the minimum sentence for malicious assault, from two to ten years to four to ten years imprisonment. A.R. 604-05. The court then imposed a sentence of one to three years for attempted second degree murder, four to ten years for malicious assault and one to five years imprisonment for third offense domestic battery, with all sentences to be served consecutively. A.R. 604-05, 675-77, 680-81.

The circuit court entered a final order denying the motion for new trial and sentencing the Petitioner on October 20, 2021. A.R. 678. In this order the court again adopted the reasoning of the State that intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill was not a necessary element of malicious assault and set forth the sentence as described in the above paragraph. It is from this final order of the circuit court that the Petitioner brings this appeal.

The Petitioner is not asserting any issues or errors with regard to his convictions or sentences for attempted second degree murder or third offense domestic battery. The Petitioner is also not asserting any error with regard to the recidivist proceeding or his sentence for malicious assault. As set forth above in the Assignment of Error, the Petitioner is only alleging error with regard to his indictment and conviction for malicious assault.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred when it denied Petitioner's pretrial motion to dismiss Count Two of the indictment that alleged malicious assault because it did not contain the essential element of the "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill." At least five West Virginia cases are directly on point and stand for the proposition that "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill" is an essential element of this offense. *State v. Combs*, 166 W.Va. 149, 151, 280 S.E.2d 809, 810 (1980); *State v. Stalnaker*, Syl. Pt. 3, 138 W.Va. 30, 76 S.E.2d 906 (1953); *McComas v. Warth*, 113 W.Va.

163, ___, 167 S.E. 96, 96-97 (1932, rehearing denied 1933); *State v. Taylor*, Syl. Pt. 3, 105 W.Va. 298, ___, 142 S.E. 254, 256 (1928) and *State v. Meadows*, 18 W.Va. 658, 668-69 (1881). There are no cases holding otherwise. Even the stock instructions of both the West Virginia Prosecuting Attorneys Institute and West Virginia's Public Defender Services provide that the jury must be instructed that intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill is an element of malicious assault. See Exhibits C and D attached, respectively.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests a Rule 19 oral argument, as counsel believes that a Rule 19 oral argument would be helpful to the Court and this case presents a fundamental question of what the elements are of a commonly prosecuted statute. The interpretation of the elements of malicious assault by the circuit court, that is the subject of this appeal is inconsistent with settled law as to how this statute has been understood in case law from at least 1881 to the present. Furthermore, the circuit court's decision as to the elements of malicious assault is inconsistent with the stock jury instructions of both West Virginia Public Defender Services and the West Virginia Prosecuting Attorneys Institute that are used on a daily basis in circuit courts throughout West Virginia.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in failing to grant the Petitioner's pretrial motion to dismiss the malicious assault count of the indictment for the reason that it did not allege "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill," since said intent is an essential element of the offense.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: This Court's standard of review concerning a motion to dismiss an indictment is, generally, *de novo.*" *State v. Grimes*, Syl. Pt. 1, 226 W.Va. 411, 701 S.E.2d 449 (2009); *State v. Johnson*, Syl. Pt. 1, 219 W.Va. 697, 639 S.E.2d 789 (2006) and *State v. Miller*, Syl. Pt. 2, 197 W.Va. 588, 476 S.E.2d 535 (1996).

The issue presented is straight forward. Do all convictions for malicious assault under W.Va. Code § 61-2-9(a) require the element of "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill" to be included in the indictment? The court below ruled in the negative. The Petitioner, history, case law, and the statute itself disagree. Code § 61-2-9(a) in reads as follows:

If any person **maliciously shoots, stabs, cuts or wounds** any person, <u>or by any</u> <u>means cause him or her bodily injury</u> with <u>intent to maim, disfigure, disable</u> <u>or kill</u>, he or she, except where it is otherwise provided, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by confinement in a state correctional facility not less than two nor more than ten years. If the act is done unlawfully, <u>but not maliciously</u>, <u>with the intent aforesaid</u>, the offender is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall either be imprisoned in a state correctional facility not less than one nor more than five years, or be confined in jail not exceeding twelve months and fined not exceeding \$500. [emphasis added]

It was the position of the State and the ruling of the circuit court that there are two ways

of indicting and violating under this statute. The first is by the State indicting that the accused:

• maliciously shoots, stabs, cuts or wounds any person.

In the present case the State only alleged that the Petitioner maliciously wounded Amanda Maichle. This is how the Petitioner was indicted. A.R. 514-16, 609. The second way of violating and indicting under this statute according to the State and the circuit court is if the accused:

• by any means cause ... bodily injury with intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill.

The question then is whether the "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill" is an essential element of malicious assault even when the defendant is accused of maliciously shooting, stabbing, cutting or wounding the victim, or whether when a defendant maliciously shoots, stabs, cuts or wounds a person no such intent is necessary to qualify as the felony of malicious assault, and therefore the indictment need not allege any such intent.

A. The lesser included offense.

In addition to the history and case law concerning this statute set forth below, there is a profound problem with the State's and circuit court's interpretation of this statute presented by the statute itself. W.Va. Code § 61-2-9 is titled "Malicious and unlawful assault; assault; battery; penalties." The second sentence of subsection (a) of § 61-2-9, which is block quoted in its entirety above, provides that "[i]f the act is done unlawfully, but not maliciously, with the intent aforesaid, the offender is guilty ... " of the lesser included felony of unlawful assault. Obviously, the difference between the lesser included offense of unlawful assault and malicious assault is that malicious assault requires the element of malice, while unlawful assault does not. That is why it is a lesser included offense. Lesser included offenses, by definition, "are composed of some, but not all, of the elements of the greater crime, and [do] not have any element not included in the greater offense," in this case, malicious assault. Black's Law Dictionary, 5th Ed., definition of "lesser included offense." In no case can a lesser included offense contain any additional elements that are not present in the greater offense. In all cases a person who is guilty of the greater offense of malicious assault must logically also be guilty of unlawful assault. This, however, presents a problem to the State's and circuit court's position as to the elements of malicious assault. The second sentence of § 61-2-9(a) block quoted above also provides that in order to be guilty of the lesser included offense of unlawful assault a person must act "with the intent aforesaid." The only "intent" that is "aforesaid" in the first sentence of § 61-2-9(a) is the "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill." That means that all persons that are guilty of unlawful assault must have the "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill." Therefore, even if an accused "maliciously shoots, stabs, cuts or wounds" a person he must have the "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill." Otherwise, the lesser included offense of unlawful assault would have an element not necessarily present in the greater offense of malicious assault, and it would be

possible to be guilty of the greater offense of malicious assault without necessarily being guilty of the lesser included offense of unlawful assault. The inescapable conclusion is that all indictments and convictions for both malicious assault and its lesser include offense of unlawful assault require the element of "intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill."

B. History of the malicious assault statute.

West Virginia's malicious assault statute can be traced back to the British Offences Against the Person Act of 1828. 9 George IV, chapter XXXI [31], section XII [12]. See *State v. Gibson*, 67 W.Va. 548, __, 68 S.E. 295, 295-96 (1910); *State v. Coontz*, 94 W.Va. 59, __, 117 S.E. 701, 703 (1923) and *Harris v. Commonwealth*, 150 Va. 580, 583, 142 S.E. 354, 355 (1928). For the convenience of the Court a copy of this 1828 British statute is attached to this brief as Exhibit A. The pertinent language appears in section XII [12] on pages 103-04 and reads as follows:

And be it further enacted, That if any Person unlawfully and maliciously shall shoot at any Person, or shall, by drawing a Trigger, or in any other Manner, attempt to discharge any Kind of loaded Arms at any Person, or *shall unlawfully and maliciously stab, cut or wound any Person, with Intent, in any of the Cases aforesaid, to maim, disfigure, or disable such Person,* or to do some other grievous bodily Harm to such Person, or with Intent to resist or prevent the lawful Apprehension or Detainer of the party so offending ... shall be guilty of felony [emphasis added]

The plain language of this British statute expressly provides that the malicious wounding of a

person requires the element of intent to maim, disfigure or disable in order to be a felony.

By 1860 the language from the 1828 British statute was adopted by the Commonwealth

of Virginia. By that year the Virginia malicious assault statute read as follows:

If any free person maliciously shoot, stab, cut or wound any person, or by any means cause him bodily injury, with intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill, he shall, except where it is otherwise provided, be punished by confinement in the penitentiary not less than one, nor more than ten years. Va. Code 1860, chapter CXCI [191], section 9. See *Harris v. Commonwealth*, 150 Va. 580, 583, 142 S.E. 354, 355 (1928). For the convenience of the Court a copy of this 1860 Virginia statute is attached to this brief as Exhibit B. The pertinent language appears in section 9 on page 784. This Virginia statute is in all relevant respects identical to the present West Virginia Statute.

West Virginia separated from Virginia in 1863. The West Virginia Constitution provided in Article VIII, § 13 that laws in effect on the adoption of the Constitution remained the law of

West Virginia. Thus, the Virginia malicious assault statue became the law of West Virginia.

By 1881 what was the Virginia malicious assault statute was now located in what was

Section 9 of Chapter 144 of the West Virginia Code and read as follows:

If any person maliciously shoot, stab, cut or wound any person, or by any means cause him bodily injury, with intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill, he shall ... be punished by confinement in the penitentiary not less than two nor more than ten years.

Once again, the statute for all relevant purposes was identical to today's version and the earlier Virginia statute. In 1881 this Court decided the case of *State v. Meadows*, 18 W.Va. 658 (1881), that involved a shooting, in which the statute was quoted and interpreted with regard to the very same issue that is now before this Court in the present appeal. *Id. at 660.* The *Meadows* Court expressly ruled with regard to the malicious assault statute that:

The essence and gist of the statutory offence is the intent with which the act may be done. If any of the acts be done, the party may be liable as for a common law offence, but without the intent, as laid down in the statute, there could be no conviction under the statute. The intent mentioned in the statute must be "to maim, disfigure, disable or kill," not any other intent. Under this statute proof of intent to rob, to commit a rape, or any other offence known to the law except to "maim, disfigure, disable or kill," would not satisfy the terms of the statute.... [A]ccording to the express language of both the sections of this statute, the prohibited acts must be committed with "intention to maim, disfigure, disable or kill."

Id. at 668-69. The Meadows Court continued:

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