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

court of jurisdiction. 535 U.S. at 631. 

Further, Johnson is wholly distinguishable factually from the case at bar. In Johnson, the 

indictment at issue followed the robbery statute that had been in effect prior to its amendment in 

2000, but the petitioner in that matter was indicted in 2002. 219 W. Va. at 700-01, 639 S.E.2d at 

792-93. Thus, the indictment reflected old law. Further, the indictment in this matter "was so 

defective as not to charge an offense under West Virginia law as it existed in 2002." Id. at 702, 

639 S.E.2d at 794. The instant indictment certainly charges an offense. Accordingly, for the 

foregoing reasons, the court's order should be affirmed. 

wholly). Accordingly, at the time Johnson was published, Walker was the governing law in West 
Virginia regarding per curiam opinions. 
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D. The use of the disjunctive "or" shows that West Virginia Code§ 61-2-9 (a) can be 
committed in two separate and distinct manners, one of which does not require 
the intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill. 

The lower court held that West Virginia Code§ 61-2-9(a) can be violated in more than one 

way, and that the State indicted Petitioner under the "wounding provision of the statute" as opposed 

to the bodily injury portion. A.R. 622. A plain reading of the statute supports this holding. 

The statute in question utilizes a comma and the word or to separate two of the ways that 

malicious assault may be committed. "Recognizing the obvious, the normal use of the disjunctive 

'or' in a statute connotes an alternative or option to select." Carper v. Kanawha Banking & Tr. 

Co., 157 W. Va. 477, 517, 207 S.E.2d 897, 921 (1974) (construing "or" in a statute to allow 

recovery against all listed categories). "Normally, of course, 'or' is to be accepted for its 

disjunctive connotation, and not as a word interchangeable with 'and."' United States v. Moore, 

613 F.2d 1029, 1040 (D.C. Cir. 1979); see also Zorich v. Long Beach Fire Dep't & Ambulance 

Serv., Inc., 118 F.3d 682, 684 (9th Cir. 1997) (noting use of disjunctive "or" meant that the statute 

in question contained two separate and independent categories); United States v. Snider, 502 F.2d 

645, 655 (4th Cir. 1974), disapproved of on other grounds by United States v. Hudler, 605 F.2d 

488 (10th Cir. 1979) (interpreting the word "or" in a statute as its customary meaning and finding 

that "this interpretation gives meaning to both words and avoids the judicial rewriting of 'or' as 

'and.'"). "When the term 'or' is used, it is presumed to be used in the disjunctive sense unless the 

legislative intent is clearly contrary." United States v. O'Driscoll, 761 F.2d 589, 597 (10th Cir. 

1985) (citations omitted). 

The "or" in question shows that there are separate and distinct ways to commit malicious 

assault. First, as in this case, one can maliciously shoot, stab, cut or wound any person." Second, 

one can "by any means cause him or her bodily injury with intent to maim, disfigure, disable or 
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kill." These two phrases are separated by the disjunctive "or" showing that the Legislature intended 

to create two ways to commit malicious wounding. As this Court noted in Syllabus Point Three of 

Osborne v. United States, 

"It is presumed the legislature had a purpose in the use of every word, phrase and 
clause found in a statute and intended the terms so used to be effective, wherefore 
an interpretation of a statute which gives a word, phrase or clause thereof no 
function to perform, or makes it, in effect, a mere repetition of another word, phrase 
or clause thereof, must be rejected as being unsound, if it be possible so to construe 
the statute as a whole, as to make all of its parts operative and effective." Syllabus 
point 7, Exparte Watson, 82 W. Va. 201, 95 S.E. 648 (1918). 

211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002). In this case, the use of "or" shows that the Legislature 

intended to separate the provisions of West Virginia Code§ 61-2-9(a). Since the Legislature has 

"substantive power to define crimes and prescribe punishments," this Court should defer to the 

legislative intent. Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Sears, 196 W. Va. 71, 468 S.E.2d 324 (1996). Surely 

the legislature intended to punish Petitioner's conduct of shoving his wife out of a vehicle then 

running her over as a felony, as he did such with malicious intent. This Court should uphold the 

jury's verdict and affirm Petitioner's conviction. 

E. This Court's case law supports the contention that malicious assault can be 
committed in two distinct ways. 

This Court has recognized that malicious wounding can be committed in two ways: 

wounding and bodily injury. State v. Daniel, 144 W. Va. 551,554, 109 S.E.2d 32, 34 (1959); State 

v. Gibson, 67 W. Va. 548, 68 S.E. 295,296 (1910). This supports the State's position below that 

the statute in question divides malicious wounding into two categories. See AR. 614-19. 

The Daniel Court noted that 

The indictment charges both wounding and bodily injury caused by a blow of the 
fist. Under the wounding provision of the indictment it is not necessary to specify 
the instrument with which the wound was inflicted, but the wound must have been 
inflicted by something other than that with which the body is naturally equipped, 
and the skin, either externally or internally, must have been broken. However, the 
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provision or charge in the indictment with regard to bodily injury must specify the 
means by which the injury was caused and it is not necessary for the skin to have 
been broken in order for a conviction to be sustained under this part of the statute. 
State v. Gibson, 67 W. Va. 548, 68 S.E. 295, 28 L.R.A.,N.S., 965; State v. Coont, 
94 W. Va. 59, 117 S.E. 701. 

144 W. Va. at 554-55, 109 S.E.2d at 34-35. The two separate provisions of West Virginia Code 

§ 61-2-9 clearly require different proof, showing a legislative intent that the "or" separating the 

two provisions divides the statute into two different ways to commit malicious assault. 

As to Petitioner's argument that the intent for the lesser included offense of unlawful 

assault is the intent to maim, disfigure, disable or kill, a plain reading of the statute belies that 

contention. The second half of West Virginia Code§ 61-2-9 (a) states that "[i]f the act is done 

unlawfully, but not maliciously, with the intent aforesaid, the offender is guilty of a felony .. . . " 

As noted by this Court, "the only difference between the two being that unlawful wounding is done 

without malice." Daniel, 144 W. Va. at 554, 109 S.E.2d 32 at 34. The statute, thus, references the 

malicious intent rather than unlawful intent. 

F. The rules of statutory construction support the lower court's findings. 

Further support for the State's position below is found in this Court's interpretation of West 

Virginia Code§ 61-2-9(b), the second section of the relevant statute herein. West Virginia Code§ 

61-2-9(b) defines misdemeanor assault, and states that "[a]ny person who unlawfully attempts to 

commit a violent injury to the person of another or unlawfully commits an act that places another 

in reasonable apprehension of immediately receiving a violent injury is guilty of a misdemeanor 

.. .. " This Court has examined the elements of misdemeanor assault, finding that there are two 

ways to commit the crime: 

With respect to the crime of assault, which is classified as a misdemeanor, the 
statute provides that a person can commit the offense in two ways: (1) "attempt[ing] 
to use physical force capable of causing physical pain or injury" or (2) "unlawfully 
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commit[ting] an act that places another in reasonable apprehension of immediately 
suffering physical pain or injury." 

State v. Henning, 238 W. Va. 193, 198, 793 S.E.2d 843, 848 (2016) (citing W.Va. Code§ 61-2-

9(b)). This interpretation of West Virginia Code§ 61-2-9(b) should be carried over in this Court's 

interpretation of West Virginia Code§ 61-2-9(a), and is consistent with the findings of the lower 

court in this matter. 

It is axiomatic that consistency is the goal of statutory interpretation: "[i]n developing our 

jurisprudence of statutory construction, we have directed that statutes relating to the same subject 

matter, or subparts of the same statutory provision, should be construed consistently with one 

another." Henry v. Benyo, 203 W. Va. 172, 178, 506 S.E.2d 615, 621 (1998). '"Statutes which 

relate to the same subject matter should be read and applied together so that the Legislature's 

intention can be gathered from the whole of the enactments.' Syllabus Point 3, Smith v. State 

Workmen's Comp. Comm 'r, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975)." Syl. Pt. 4, Cmty. Antenna 

Serv., Inc. v. Charter Commc 'ns VI, LLC, 227 W. Va. 595, 712 S.E.2d 504 (2011). Further, 

"Statutes which relate to the same persons or things, or to the same class of persons 
or things, or statutes which have a common purpose will be regarded in pari materia 
to assure recognition and implementation of the legislative intent. Accordingly, a 
court should not limit its consideration to any single part, provision, section, 
sentence, phrase or word, but rather review the act or statute in its entirety to 
ascertain legislative intent properly." Syllabus Point 5, Fruehauf Corp. v. 
Huntington Moving & Storage Co., 159 W.Va. 14,217 S.E.2d 907 (1975). 

Id. at Syl. Pt. 6. See also United States v. Stauffer Chem. Co., 684 F.2d 1174, 1186 (6th Cir. 1982), 

aff'd on other grounds,, 464 U.S. 165 (1984) ( "Different portions of the same statute should be 

read and interpreted consistently with each other, avoiding conflicts.") (citations omitted). As the 

two code provisions are stylistically parallel, West Virginia Code§§ 61-2-9(a) and (b) should be 

interpreted consistently. 
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This Court has repeatedly found that statutes should be read according to their plain 

meaning and interpreted according to legislative intent. "A statutory provision which is clear and 

unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but 

will be given full force and effect." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 135 W. Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 

( 1951 ). "Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no basis for application 

of rules of statutory construction; but courts must apply the statute according to the legislative 

intent plainly expressed therein." Syl. Pt. 1, Dunlap v. State Compensation Director, 149 W.Va. 

266, 140 S.E.2d 448 (1965). "Courts always endeavor to give effect to the legislative intent, but a 

statute that is clear and unambiguous will be applied and not construed." Syl. PU, State v. Elder, 

152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). "Where the language of a statute is free from ambiguity, 

its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation." Syl. Pt. 2, Crockett 

v. Andrews, 153 W.Va. 714, 172 S.E.2d 384 (1970). "We look first to the statute's language. If the 

text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the language must prevail and 

further inquiry is foreclosed." Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep 't of West Virginia, 195 

W.Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995). "'The basic and cardinal principle, governing the 

interpretation and application of a statute, is that the Court should ascertain the intent of the 

Legislature at the time the statute was enacted, and in the light of the circumstances prevailing at 

the time of the enactment.' Syl. Pt. 1, Pond Creek Pocahontas Co. v. Alexander, 137 W.Va. 864, 

74 S.E.2d 590 (1953)." Leggett v. EQT Prod. Co., 239 W. Va. 264, 267, 800 S.E.2d 850, 853, cert. 

denied, 138 S. Ct. 472, 199 L. Ed. 2d 358 (2017). 

Petitioner's interpretation would contradict the duty of this Court to avoid whenever 

possible a construction of a statute which leads to absurd, inconsistent, unjust or unreasonable 

results. "Where a particular construction of a statute would result in an absurdity, some other 
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reasonable construction, which will not produce such absurdity, will be made." State v. Kerns, 183 

W. Va. 130, 135, 394 S.E.2d 532, 537 (1990) (citations omitted). Thus, the lower court's order 

should be affirmed. 

G. The indictment herein does not allege only simple battery. 

Petitioner contends that the indictment herein alleges "no more than simple battery." Pet'r 

Br. 17. Petitioner is mistaken. The battery statute reads that "[a]ny person who unlawfully and 

intentionally makes physical contact of an insulting or provoking nature to the person of another 

or unlawfully and intentionally causes physical harm to another person is guilty of a misdemeanor . 

. . . " W.Va. Code§ 61-2-9 (c). It is clear that the indictment in this matter alleges more than "simple 

battery." 

First, there is no requirement of malice in the battery statute, but the indictment herein 

noted specifically that Petitioner acted with malice. Second, there is a requirement that Petitioner 

"wound" Ms. Maichle under the indictment, which is significantly different than merely causing 

physical harm. "Wound" has been specifically defined by this Court with regard to the malicious 

wounding statute, noting that "the wound must have been inflicted by something other than that 

with which the body is naturally equipped, and the skin, either externally or internally, must have 

been broken." Daniel, 144 W. Va. at 554-55, 109 S.E.2d at 34. This requirement is not part of the 

battery statute. Accordingly, this contention must fail. 

H. There is no requirement that courts utilize stock jury instructions set forth by the 
Prosecuting Attorneys Institute or Public Defender Services. 

To the extent Petitioner peripherally alludes to the stock jury instructions set forth by other 

entities outside of this Court, Petitioner's barebones argument in this regard should be disregarded. 

Pet'r Br. 6. Petitioner does not allude to either set of stock jury instructions in his argument section, 
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nor does he expand upon his single statement that the circuit court's decision flies in the face of 

these jury instructions created by entities unrelated to the Court or Legislature. Indeed, 

[ a ]n . . . indictment in the words of the statute is ordinarily sufficient, as long as 
the statute fully defines and describes the offense, and the charging instrument fully 
informs accused of the particular offense with which he is charged and enables the 
court to determine on what statute the charge is founded. 

State ex rel. Day v. Silver, 210 W. Va. 175,178,556 S.E.2d 820,823 (2001) (internal quotation 

omitted) (quoting 42 C.J.S. Indictments and Informations§ 123 (1991)); see also Lindv. Ballard, 

No. 16 1033, 2017 WL 4570572, at *6 (W. Va. Supreme Court, Oct. 13, 2017) (memorandum 

decision) (Requiring an indictment to meet only "minimal constitutional standards" and to 

"charge[] an offense under West Virginia law.") The indictment in this case, while not tracing any 

form indictment, is nevertheless sufficient as detailed above. The lower court's order should be 

affirmed. 

I. Even if this Court finds that the indictment omitted an essential element of the 
crime, this Court should follow federal court law that allows a harmless error 
review. 

Any alleged omitted element in this case should be considered harmless error. Numerous 

federal courts have found that omissions of an essential element in an indictment are subject to a 

harmless error review. See United States v. Stevenson, 832 F.3d 412, 427 (3d Cir. 2016); United 

States v. Allen, 406 F.3d 940, 945 (8th Cir. 2005); United States v. Robinson, 367 F.3d 278, 285 

(5th Cir. 2004); United States v. Higgs, 353 F.3d 281, 304-06 (4th Cir. 2003); United States v. 

Cor-Bon Custom Bullet Co., 287 F.3d 576, 580 (6th Cir. 2002); United States v. Prentiss, 256 

F.3d 971, 981 (2001); United States v. Corporan-Cuevas, 244 F.3d 199, 202 (1st Cir. 2001). 

Likewise, this Court has applied a harmless error test to indictments with omissions. See 

State ex rel. Thompson v. Watkins, 200 W. Va. 214,218,488 S.E.2d 894, 898 (1997). The Court 

notes that the operative test is whether the petitioner was deprived of any constitutional rights or 
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whether he can demonstrate prejudice. As noted at length above, Petitioner was not deprived of 

any constitutional rights nor was he prejudiced. The indictment gives the victim's name, the date, 

specific details of the incident, and the code provision under which he is being chargee,l. A.R. 609. 

All of this is sufficient to protect Petitioner's rights by fully infc;,rming him of the charge against 

him. Further, there is no prejudice here, as Petitioner clearly knew the case the State sought to 

prosecute against him. Thus, any alleged omissions here are harmless error, and this Court should 

affirm the circuit court. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully asks this Court to affirm the circuit 

court's order.